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DESCRIBE:TH EV'PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Captain Ebe Chandler House is a two-and-a-half story, six-~bay, double-plle,
gable-roofed Victorian Gothic structure distinguished by the addition of elaborate
carpenter gothic.and eclectic detailing at a late date (1918). It is situated on a
lot of about one-half acre at the northwest corner of Main and Reed Streets in the
town of Frankford, Delaware.

The basic structure dates from 1880, as do three small, gable~roofed outbuildings
on the same property situated at the rear of the house. In addition to the numerous
alterations made to the house in 1918 by Captain Chandler, the house has been converted
in recent years to two duplex apartments. That conversion did not affect the outside
appearance of the house which is its most important feature. It involved the- conver-
sion of one first floor room to 'a second kitchen and of a second floor room to a bath-
room, as well as the- temporary closure of four doorways. - :

The exterior decoration of the house, most of whlch was added by Captain Chandler,
is the most elaborate in lower Delaware, if not the entire state. It is the most
distinctive feature of the house and remains almost completely intact. The Chandler
House is generally symmetrical in design, although the placement of windows and door-
ways on the first floor front is not symmetrical. The front of the large gable roof
is broken by two massive cross gables placed at regular intervals. They are not
technically full cross gables since each extends only from the ridge of the main
roof to the front of the house. Each gable end is pierced by two lancet windows
and each of the front cross gables has one lancet window. All the lancet windows
are double lancets in the sense that each large window contains two smaller lancets.
The windows are surrounded by large, lancet-shaped surrounds. The gables are crowned
by pendant peak ornaments. The cross gables are further ornamented with cut-out
panels above the. lancet windows.

- The placement of the two-over-two double-hung sash windows on the second floor
is symmetrical. A bracketed frieze, with cut-out scroll brackets extends along the
tops of the second floor windows. Above the frieze is an ornate moulded cornice
which is inset slightly beneath the cross gables. The effect is that the cross
gables appear to have full returns. Each of the six windows across the second-
floor front and the .four windows in each gable end on both first and second floors
have simple board trim and Jlouvered shutters, The one-story porch extends' across
all six bays of the front and halfway back along each side. Beneath the moulded
cornice of the porch roof are turned spindles. Each turned porch post has three
elaborately scrolled brackets at the top, supporting the cornice and the spindled
decoratlon. The porch railings have turned balusters.

 The corner gazebos, located at each of the front corners of the porch, are
the most unusual feature of the Chandler House. They are octagonal in shape and
duplicate the turned posts, scrollwork, and spindle decoration of the porch.
The octagonal tent roofs of the gazebos, which are covered with wood, diamond-shaped
shingles, are crowned with tower finials. Each panel of the roofs contains a tiny
gable dormer, each with a small, three-paned lancet window. Each pane contains a
different colo¥ of glass. Captain Chandler reportedly had the windows 1lit from
inside at Christmas time each year.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Captain Ebe Chandler House is primarily significant as the final exuberant

flowering in Delaware of the late 19th century love of architectural excess. From
its initial construction in 1880 until the house was purchased and remodeled by
Captain Ebe Chandler in 1918, it appears to have been a relatively restrained and
conventional example of the Victorian Gothic style. When Captain Chandler had
finished, the structure was a unique monument to his eclectic instincts.

centuries as a successful sea captain.

Chandler spent his younger adult life during the late 19th and early 20th
In his early 60's, he retired from the

sea and came back to his home town of Frankford with the obvious intention of
establishing himself as one of the town's principal citizens (and, as it shortly

became evident, one of its principal eccentrics). After carrying out his remodeling
of the house in 1918, he lived there as a local politician, civic leader, and, more
surprisingly, as a spiritualist medium. According to family members, the captain
was in the habit of conducting his seances in one of the large, third-floor rooms
li§ by double lancet windows. He lived to the age of 98 before dying in the early
1950's. - v

In 1918, when he acquired the house, Chandler had the strueture moved back from
its original location near the front property line. He proceeded:to transform it
into what, by local standards, 1s a wildly flamboyant eclectic dwelling possessing
numerous touches of carpenter gothic and what some observers have called "Steamboat
Gothic" detailing in addition to its original Victorian Gothic. Captain Chandler's
crowning glory is the front porch extending across the full width of the house and
along each side. It is set off by the addition of grandiose circular gazebos at
each corner. .

Chandler made few structural changes in the house, the most important of which
was the addition of a second-floor bathroom, said to be the town's first example of
modern indoor plumbing. He devoted most of his efforts to exterior trim. As a
result, the interior is quite sedate by comparison.

The structure has been well maintained since Chandler's death. In the 1960's,
the lower two floors were divided into two large duplex apartments. Except for the
conversion of one room into a second kitchen and of another room into a secand bath-
room, the change has not permanently altered the interior arrangement. The house
and the three small outbuildings behind it are among the finest statements of the
eclectic style in Delaware. The fact that most of the detailing didn't occur until

1918, well after such exuberance had fallen out of style, makes the Chandler House
-even more significant.
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At the center of the porch is a gable-roofed entry extending outward about
two feet from the porch. It is set off by a turned, half-sunburst design in the
gable end over the front steps, and by scroll brackets at the front and both sides.

The foundation of the house, which evidently dates from the 1918 move, is of
early, irregularly surfaced concrete block. The house does not have a basement.
At the rear of the main house is a shed-roofed one-story wing with rectangular false
board ends. Rising up from the center of the rear wing is Captain Chandler's one-bay
second floor bathroom addition, 1it by one one-over-one double hung sash window with
stained glass. The bathroom has a flat roof. All siding is narrow weatherboard.

The interior of the house has fully finished first, second, and third floors with
a crawl space above the third floor. The interior is not particularly distinguished.
An earlier Victorian Gothic fireplace surround was removed by Captain Chandler who
installed in its place a Colonial Revival. The earlier surround is affixed to a
wall in a rear breakfast foom. The interior trim is generally a mixture of the
original 1880 work and details dating from Captain Chandler's 1918 remodeling.
There are four large rooms in the main part of the house on the first floor with
a central hallway running back to the kitchen in the rear shed-roofed wing. The
rear wing also contains the small breakfast room, a pantry, and a small corner
room which may have served as an office., Side doors are located in the "false
front" end walls of the rear wing, and a rear door is located at the center of
the back wall of the wing.

At the rear of the house are located three small outbuildings which appear
to date from the original construction of the house. All are of frame construction
with weatherboard exterior siding and vergeboards of a simple sawn zig-zag design
in the gable ends. The building nearest the house was converted by Captain Chandler
into a furnace room and has a brick chimmey with corbelled top. A concrete comered
conduit runs from the building to the rear of the house to carry hot water pipes
for the radiators inside. Also situated just to the rear of the house, though
several feet farther back, is a small shed which appears to have been used as a
storage shed. Farther back on the property is a gable-roofed privy (three-hole)
with the same trim as the other two structures. The gable end, which extends
out over a small porch, is decorated with diamond-shaped wooden shingles. The
structure has small, single-pane casement windows in the side walls. All three
outbuildings and the main house are now roofed with asphalt shingles which probably
cover over an earlier cedar shingle roof.

The Main and Reed Street sides of the Chandler property have decorative

Victorian iron fences of uncertain vintage, though they probably date from the
1880s. Evidence remains of a large garage or barn at the rear of the property
which has been demolished.
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The Main Street property line is 113 feet long. The Reed Street Property line
is 155 feet long. The north-northeast (rear) property line is 129 feet long. The
west-northwest (side) property line is 160 feet long. The total area is 19,057.5
square feet, or just under one-~half acre.
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